NAMDEB ORM LOM EIA: INVERTEBRATE ASSESSMENT

Specialist contribution:

Telané Greyling (Ecological Equine Consultancy CC)

> John Irish (Biodata Consultancy CC)

Final Draft, October 2010

Ecological Equine Consultancy CC P.O. Box 21 Aus Namibia Cell: +264 813040735 telanie@namibhorses.com Biodata Consultancy cc P.O. Box 30061 Windhoek Namibia Cell: +264 812696602 jirish@mweb.com.na

Prepared for:

Mr Henri Fortuin Environmental Management Services CSIR Consulting & Analytical Services Stellenbosch South Africa Tel: +27 21 888-2412 Fax: +27 21 888-2693 Email: hfortuin@csir.co.za

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A survey on the invertebrate fauna at Sendelingsdrift was conducted from 25 May to 29 September 2010 as well as a desktop study to compliment fieldwork. Forty pitfall traps at ten sites in and on the periphery of the mining area together with hand collecting and UV-light collecting were used to collect about 16 000 specimens of invertebrates.

A minimum of 323 terrestrial invertebrate taxa occur in the study area. Of these, 155 taxa were actually encountered on the ground, an additional 121 taxa have been recorded in other sources, and 47 more taxa were not encountered but are expected to occur anyway on grounds of habitat suitability. Some taxa are undifferentiated larger grouping or morphospecies, so the actual number of species will be much higher.

Although several of the insects are endemic to the Lower Orange River area with restricted distribution ranges, it is unlikely that any specific specie is confined exclusively to the proposed mining area. No significant difference seems to exist in the diversity or abundance of invertebrates in different habitats within the mining area and surrounding areas (the riverine woodland on the banks of the Orange River was not included in this survey). It is therefore important that the areas surrounding the mining area remains undisturbed in order to protect insect populations from where the mining area can be re-colonised during the rehabilitation phases.

The main impact of the mining operation on the invertebrate fauna is habitat destruction and it is therefore important that the landforms and soil structure should be recreated during and after the mining operations as far as possible. Assisted colonisation of the vegetation component will also accelerate the re-colonisation of invertebrate communities during the rehabilitation phase.

Invertebrates can be reasonably economically and quantifiably used for monitoring of rehabilitation success with comparable pitfall trap surveys. The occurrence or reappearance of some easily identifiable species discussed below can also indicate the reestablishment of a healthy ecosystem.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	3
2.	TERMS OF REFERENCE	4
3.	RELEVANT LEGISLATION	4
4.	STUDY AREA	4
5.	DATA SOURCES	6
5. 5.	.1 Desktop study .2 Field collecting	6 7
6.	RESULTS	9
7.	DISCUSSION	9
8.	IMPACT DESCRIPTION	10
9.	IMPACT ASSESSMENT	11
10.	IMPACT MITIGATION	12
11.	MITIGATION MONITORING	12
12.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	13
13.	REFERENCES	14

LIST OF TABLES:

Table 1: Study area used for electronic data searcheTable 2. Coordinates for invertebrate collecting and pTable 3: Explanation of terms for impact assessmentTable 4: Impact assessment......

LIST OF FIGURES:

Figure 1: Study area for Invertebrate electronic data
Sendelingsdrift area
Figure 2: Locations of invertebrate collecting and tra
Sendelingsdrift area

APPENDIXES:

APPENDIX A: List of taxa collected and expected to occur at Sendelingsdrift

APPENDIX B: Sendelingsdrif preservative pittrap results. Sampling periods as defined earlier. For basis of identification refer Appendix C.

APPENDIX C: Classification and basis for identification of taxa in Appendix B. Absence of diagnosis implies well-known or unmistakeable taxa, or undifferentiated larger groupings.

APPENDIX D: Summary of invertebrate taxa actually collected at Sendelingsdrif, recorded from other sources or expected to occur (on the basis of known distribution and habitat preference) in the study area. Endemism is not known for most taxa, but where available has been included as a percentage of known distribution range that is within the borders of Namibia.

1. INTRODUCTION

Sendelingsdrift and more specifically the proposed mining area falls on a biome border. The lower parts near the river form part of the Lower Orange River Desert Biome Outlier, grading into Arid Lowland Succulent Karoo Biome further from the river (Irish, 1994). The importance of this area as an endemicity hotspot for biodiversity has been emphasized by almost all the reports regarding the proposed mining at Sendelingsdrift; it is therefore not discussed here. Invertebrate diversity and numbers in the area is expected to be low because of sparse vegetation in general although this changes with a significant increase in rainfall during exceptional years.

This study attempts to provide a reference collection of invertebrates occurring or potentially occurring on the habitats that will be impacted by mining operations. The data from this survey can then be used as a reference for post mining rehabilitation phases. There are several methods to collect invertebrates with varying success according to effort and seasonality. Long term pitfall trapping has shown in past experience to be the most economic and successful method to collect a large diversity of invertebrates especially considering the purpose, time and effort constraints of this study. Pitfall trapping needs to be complimented by hand collection.

9S	4
pit trap sites at Sendelingsdrift	7
t in Table 4	10
	11

searches indicated on a satellite image of the	Э
5	
p sites indicated on a satellite image of the	
7	

Information on the geomorphology, climate and vegetation structure of the area have already been provided by other specialists (e.g. Burke 1998; Mannheimer 2010) and will not be repeated in this report.

2. TERMS OF REFERENCE

The consultant was requested to:

- the review of other data sources.
- Namibia.
- Provide the taxonomy of invertebrates in the mining area.

3. RELEVANT LEGISLATION

This EIA is conducted in terms of the Environmental Management Act, 7 of 2007.

The primary legislation protecting wild animals and plants in Namibia is still the Nature Conservation Ordinance (No. 4 of 1975). This is set to be replaced by the draft Parks and Wildlife Act at some unspecified future date. Terrestrial invertebrates have no special status under the Nature Conservation Ordinance. Under the Parks and Wildlife Act all invertebrates will initially have the default status of Wild Animal (Protected), until such time as specific Regulations are promulgated.

No Namibian invertebrates are currently CITES listed, or IUCN categorised, although studies are under way to formalise the Endangered status of some endemic Central Namib invertebrates.

4. STUDY AREA

The Sendelingsdrift area include the following habitats according to Burke, 1998: riverine woodlands, rock outcrops, sandy terraces and drainage lines, gravel terraces, gravel plains and sandy plains. For this survey, collecting effort was focused on the proposed mining area itself which includes mainly the proto and meso gravel terraces intersected by seeps and drainage lines. Some collecting were also on the periphery of the mining area on the sandy plains towards the old Sendelingsdrift Police station, on the gravel plains (also referred to as shallow soil on ridges) towards the east and on the Euclea hummocks (transitional area towards the riverine woodlands) close to where the proposed mining plant could be positioned. The previous survey (Irish 2002) also covered gravel plains further away towards the northwest as well as the rocky outcrops just north of the mining area.

Conduct a baseline survey of the invertebrates in the proposed mining area including

Provide a reference collection of the invertebrates lodged at the National Museum of

• Assess the potential impacts of the mining operations related to invertebrate fauna.

For electronic data searches a rectangular area was used, that included both Sendelingsdrift and Daberas, and the historical collecting locality of Dreigratberg, but excludes Rosh Pinah and the prolific collecting sites of Obib, Namuskluft and Lorelei (Table 1).

The southern extension of the Obib-Daberas dune field enters the study area in the west. Namib dunes and surrounding harder ground harbour mutually exclusive taxa. Since the Sendelingsdrif project as currently understood will not encroach on the dune field, exclusively dune-living taxa were not included in the rest of this report, nor were prior records from the Obib and Daberas dunes.

Table 3: Study area used for electronic data searches.

	Longitude	Latitude
NW Corner	16.70	-28.00
SE Corner	16.90	-28.30

Figure 1: Study area for Invertebrate electronic data searches indicated on a satellite image of the Sendelingsdrift area



5. DATA SOURCES

5.1 Desktop study

What invertebrate data is available for any particular part of Namibia depends on the cumulative effect of three factors:

Collecting coverage of the study area

Some parts of the country have been extensively studied, others not at all. The best-known areas tend to be in the immediate vicinity of larger towns, tourist attractions and major roads, or in places where large-scale surveys had been undertaken in the past. The less accessible an area is, the less likely it is that there will be significant data available for it. Large parts of the country are also biogeographically homogeneous and collecting coverage here tends to be sparser than in the biogeographically more diverse parts. The Sendelingsdrif area is biogeographically very diverse, but not particularly well collected.

Level of taxonomic knowledge on the taxon of interest Some groups have been extensively studied and comprehensive revisions with relatively complete distribution data allow one to say with some certainty what occurs where. Other groups have barely been touched in Namibia, and one can usually say little more than that they occur in the country, while the single locations whence they are known tell us little about their overall distribution and abundance. Distribution extrapolations have been made where possible, but often were not.

Availability of existing knowledge

Information on Namibian invertebrates is scattered throughout literally tens of thousands of scientific publications. It may exist, but that does not always mean it is available. Sometimes it is locked up in obscure foreign publications that are unknown or unavailable in Namibia. No single unified data source exists for Namibian invertebrates, but the Namibia Biodiversity Database (NaBiD 2010) has gone a long way towards consolidating various disparate data sources and making them locally accessible. Still, although some 250000 records for 17000 species are currently included, this is still only the tip of the iceberg.

Electronic data sources have recently come online, but Namibian coverage is still sparse and plagued by insufficient and inaccurate geo-referencing. The following useful records were found in the various sources:

NaBiD – 49 literature records of 32 taxa (NaBiD 2010). GBIF – 7 records (GBIF 2010)

SABIF - 351 records, but since this is based on quarter degree squares (QDS), the search had to include all of QDS 2816Ba-Bd, and may be overrepresented. NMN – 45 records. The National Museum of Namibia's collection databases are normally inaccessible, but fortuitous circumstances allowed partial access during the current study.

Prior work

A specialist study on terrestrial arthropods for the same project was previously done by Irish (2002). Unfortunately, project deadline constraints at the time dictated that it had to take place at a very dry time, and fieldwork consisted of only 3 days of manual sampling plus 10 concurrently running preservative pit traps. As a result relatively few taxa (a total of 109, including literature references) were recorded. These were referred to where relevant below. The desktop study in 2002 covered a slightly wider area than the current one, and some taxa recorded there were excluded by the narrower study area used here.

Another study treated aquatic taxa in the Orange River, and the current study was expected to treat terrestrial invertebrates only. Such a clear-cut distinction is not always possible. Some aquatic taxa, notably large numbers of Ephemeroptera, were captured in pit traps some distance from the river, while utilised data sources sometimes included an undifferentiated mix of aquatic and non-aquatic taxa. In such cases the general approach here was to rather include too much than too little.

5.2 Field collecting

Pitfall traps (one litre yogurt containers with 250 ml ethylene glycol as preservative) were placed on 25 May 2010 at 10 trap sites with four traps each (spaced linear at 20m intervals), therefore a total of 40 pitfall traps. These traps were serviced (thus the container with collected material removed and a new container with preservative placed in the same position) on 14 July 2010 and again on 21 August 2010. All the traps were removed on 29 September 2010 (a total period of 126 days). Additional hand collecting took place on 21 – 22 August 2010 when thirty minutes of searching and collecting were spend at each of the ten trap sites. Further collection took place on the night of 21 August 2010 and 28 September 2010 when 2 – 4 hours respectively were spend searching for scorpions with a UV-light. All the traps were carefully sorted to retrieve all invertebrates which were counted and identified as far as possible.

Table 4. Coordinates for invertebrate collecting and

Pit trap sites: May - September 2010				
Site name	Coordinates			
Control site	28°08.59.0'S			
Meso gravel terrace	28°09.24.4'S			
NW rocky ridge	28°08.40.5'S			
Proto Gravel Terrace N	28°09.13.0'S			
Proto Gravel Terrace S	28°09.11.9'S			
Riverbed	28°08.54.6'S			
Riverbed drainage	28°09.28.0'S			
Sandy Plains	28°10.08.0'S			
Seepage valley	28°09.43.3'S			
Euclea hummocks	28°09.44.7'S			

Collecting & trap sites: October 2002

Seepage	28°08.63'S
Malaise trap/Riverine Woodlands	28°09.71'S
Gravel Plains	28°08.54'S
Rocky Outcrops	28°08.61'S
Gravel Terraces	28°09.15'S
Sandy Plains	28°09.12'S
Sandy Terraces	28°10.01'S

Figure 2: Locations of invertebrate collecting and trap sites indicated on a satellite image of the Sendelingsdrift area



d	pit	trac	o sites	at	Sendelina	sdrift.
u	Pit	սար	01100	u	Condomigo	Junit.

16°52.09.5'E
16°50.45.3'E
16 [°] 50.44.6'E
16 [°] 51.09.8'E
16 [°] 51.34.4'E
16°55.50.8'E
16 [°] 50.37.8'E
16 [°] 52.23.0'E
16 [°] 51.47.8'E
16 [°] 50.34.4'E
16 [°] 51.10'E
16°50.23' E
16°50.14'E
16°51.24'E
16°51.37'E
16°52.39'E
16 [°] 51.47'E

Definition for the trapping periods in Appendix B: Period 1: 25 May to 14 July 2010 (50 days) Period 2: 14 July to 21 August 2010 (38 days) Period 3: 21 August to 29 September 2010 (38 days)

6. RESULTS

A total of almost 16000 specimens representing at least 204 morphospecies were collected. Pit trap results are discussed below and summarised in Appendix B. The basis for differentiating unnamed morphospecies is given in Appendix C.

Invertebrate taxa encountered during fieldwork, or recorded from literature or database sources, including those not recorded but expected to occur on grounds of habitat suitability, are listed in Appendix A and summarized in Appendix D. In all, 323 taxa are treated. Of these, 155 taxa were actually collected, an additional 121 taxa have been recorded in other sources, and 47 more taxa were not encountered but are expected to occur on habitat suitability grounds. Some taxa are undifferentiated larger grouping or morphospecies, so the actual number of species is much higher.

With few exceptions, noted in Appendix A, hand collecting at the trap sites turned up the same taxa as the pit traps. When compared to the 2002 study, which yielded only 73 collected taxa, the difference made by more prolonged trapping in a marginally more favourable season can be clearly seen.

7. DISCUSSION

The current study has recorded more than three times as many taxa as the 2002 one. This is attributed to a longer sampling period, more traps, and fortuitous rain early in the sampling period (11 - 20 mm of rain during May and June). In 2002 it was particularly dry and very few invertebrates were active. The effect of rainfall can be seen in the fact that about half of all the invertebrates recorded during this survey were encountered during the first trapping period (25 May to 14 July 2010), following the rain during May and June. In each of the subsequent two sampling periods (July to September), half less invertebrates were encountered. The rainfall for the 2010 winter period were below average (only 20 - 25 mm compared to an expected annual average of 60 mm) and the sampling period is thus described as relatively dry, which means that in an average to above average rainfall season many more invertebrates could be collected, possibly including the taxa that are now listed as "expected to occur".

It is expected that many of the recorded invertebrates will be endemic to the Lower Gariep Region of Endemism, but Appendix D lists only 11 Namibian endemics. Sadly, lack of information about invertebrate endemism (or more accurately, lack of national capacity to synthesize existing information on invertebrate endemism) currently inhibits more detailed analysis.

Faced with such taxonomical uncertainty, the best way to ensure survival of even those taxa that are currently still unknown is to concentrate on habitat preservation, rather than species preservation.

Limiting the footprint of developments to the minimum possible remains one of the best ways to preserve habitats.

It was found that the diversity amongst the different habitats, e.g. proto and meso gravel plains, drainage lines, seepage areas, sandy plains and *Euclea* hummocks, did not differ much within the same sampling periods, rather as mentioned above that the rainfall influenced the diversity and abundance significantly. The species composition was also fairly similar between the habitats. It is therefore from an invertebrate perspective with the lack of information about endemism not possible to indicate one habitat as more important than another.

To assess the sensitivity of the habitats to disturbance within the mining area seems rather unnecessary since the mining process will almost completely destroy the existing habitats. Therefore mining operations and management should aim to minimize the footprint of disturbance and rehabilitate or rather attempt to recreate the landforms and soil structure as far as possible. Assisted colonisation of the vegetation component will accelerate the re-colonisation of invertebrate communities during the rehabilitation phase. Significant rainfall which is beyond human control will also accelerate re-colonisation of fauna and flora provided that the landforms and soil structure allow for this.

8. IMPACT DESCRIPTION

Since very little information were provided regarding the intended mining methods and activities, it is assumed that the proto and meso gravel terraces (including seepage valleys intersecting these terraces) will be excavated and therefore completely destroyed. The riverbed or drainage lines within the mining area where roads and the mining plant will be constructed will also be almost completely cleared and environmental processes in these areas will cease.

The sandy plains to the south of the mining area will assumingly only be partially affected by excavation and dumping of overburden and tailings. The gravel plains (shallow soil on ridges) and rocky ridges to the north and east, and the riverine woodland along the Orange River should not be significantly disturbed if the environmental management plan specifies these areas as no-go areas outside of the mining area and limit any activities or unnecessary roads.

9. IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Table 3: Evolution	of terms for	r imnact	accacemar
Table 3. Explanation	or terms for	impaci	assessmer

	-
Description	The type of effect that a proposed a the impact.
Extent	Geographic area. Whether the impa construction is to take place, LIM)), (N) or internationally (I).
Duration	Whether the impact will be tempora ST), medium term (5-10 years; MT), operation LT) or permanent (P).
Intensity	Quantify the magnitude of the impar process. Low (L) where no environm (M) where the environment continue (environmental functions and process completely. May also be measured conventions, best practice policy, lev
Mitigation	Discusses mitigation options, and wi acceptable level.
Frequency of occurrence	A description of any repetitive, conti Continuous (C), Intermittent - occur Periodic – occurring at more or less mostly at specific times of the day o
Probability	The probability that a certain impact Probable (P); Highly Probable (HP); is not sufficient information to deter principle is followed, this increases t probability in statistical terms (e.g. >
Significance	Significance is given before and after influence on the decision or require design, Medium if the impact could require modification of the project d but with deviations or mitigation) Hi regardless of any possible mitigation
Status of the impact	A statement of whether the impact i Indicate in each case who is likely to impact.
Legal requirements	An identification and list of specific less specialist study that potentially could is required to enable the project to p to obtain appropriate permits should
Degree of confidence in predictions	A statement of the degree of confide information and the specialist's know

nt in Table 4

activity will have on the environment. A narrative of

act will be within a limited area (on site where locally (within the site; L), regionally (R), nationally

ary (during construction only; T), short term (1-5 years;), long term (longer than 10 years, but will cease after

act and outline the method(s) used in the quantification mental functions and processes are affected, Moderate les to function but in a modified manner or High (H) esses are altered) VH Environmental processes cease in accordance with International standards, applicable evels of social acceptance, etc.

hether such options would lessen the impact to an

tinuous or time-linked characteristics of the impact(s). rring from time to time, without specific periodicity (I), regular intervals (P), Time-linked – occurring only or or week (T).

t will in fact realise; Uncertain (U), Improbable (I), Definite (D). If the probability is uncertain, then there rmine its probability. Because the precautionary the significance of the impact. Attempt to quantify the >75% certain)

er mitigation. **Low** if the impact will not have an to be significantly accommodated in the project d have an influence on the environment which will design or alternative mitigation (the route can be used, **ligh** where it could have a "no-go" implication n (an alternative route should be used).

is positive (a benefit), negative (a cost), or neutral. o benefit and who is likely to bear the costs of each

legislation and permit requirements related to the ld be infringed upon by the proposed project or which proceed. Reference to the proper procedures required d also be provided.

lence in the predictions, based on the availability of wledge and expertise.

Table 4: Impact assessment						
Nature of Impact: habitat destruction for invertebrate fauna in mining area						
Construction Operations Decomm						
Extent	L	L	-			
Duration	MT	LT	МТ			
Intensity	VH	VH	М			
Probability	HP	HP	U			
Status of Impact	Negative	Negative	-			
Degree of Confidence	90%	90%	80%			
Significance (without mitigation)	Low	Low	Low			
Significance (with mitigation)	Low	Low	Low			

10. IMPACT MITIGATION

Since the impact on the invertebrate fauna in the mining area involves eradication of individuals as well as habitat destruction through excavation and processing of the gravel terraces and trampling/clearing on the roads and plant site, little can be done to mitigate the negative impact in these areas during construction and mining operations. Focus for mitigation should rather be to minimize disturbance in the surrounding areas and therefore protecting the invertebrate populations that will re-colonize the mining area in the rehabilitation phase. General environmental practices should be implemented such as:

- Limit roads and prohibit off-road driving outside the mining area.
- drive over undisturbed areas.
- Minimize harmful effluents and pollution.
- white lights.

11. MITIGATION MONITORING

Invertebrates, especially ants (Formicidae) have been proven to comply with most criteria for successful indicators of environmental change (disturbance and rehabilitation) since they are diverse and abundant, functionally important at all trophic levels and easily randomly sampled (Andersen 1990). It is therefore suggested that invertebrates can also be used in the monitoring of rehabilitation for the Sendelingsdrift mine. Pitfall trapping similar to the methodology used in this survey or adapted with more traps per site can be repeated in future and the ant species composition and abundance be compared, keeping in mind that the climatic conditions (season and rainfall) plays a significant role. Other invertebrate species which may be of interest as indicators are:

• Educate excavator and truck operators/drivers to stay within disturbed areas and not

• All outside lights should be yellow instead of white since most insects are attracted to

- Cauricara phalangium. A Namibian endemic, easily recognisable and relatively common in the for this species.
- Calognathus chevrolati. A Namibian dune-endemic, large and unmistakable. Recorded in it will be highly susceptible to any disruption in this ecosystem service. It will most likely be it will depend on the reformation of the windblown sand dunes in the area.
- Pompilidae. Spider wasps are super predators. Their presence indicates a sufficient supply of spiders, that are themselves predators and imply a sufficient supply of prey, which implies a healthy underlying ecosystem. Pompilidae diversity can be taken as a proxy for invertebrate indicator species presupposes taxonomical research about them being done first.

Monitoring during the mining operation within the mining area is not feasible. It is suggested that long term pitfall trapping (at least 24 months) outside the mining area i.e. at the "control site" or "sandy plains" of this survey would deliver valuable information on the normal fluctuation of invertebrate diversity and abundance. The recording of prevailing weather conditions in order to indicate the influence of weather conditions on invertebrate abundance and diversity is imperative to run parallel with such long term pitfall trapping. This information can then be used to compare later surveys on the rehabilitated areas. Such surveys can be conducted by environmental officers of Namdeb, initially with assistance from the National Museum of Namibia or independent consultants to learn how to sort and identify specimens or it can be conducted by independent consultants. It could also form part of a M.Sc. project for an environmental student from any university.

12. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ursula Witbooi and her assistants in the Namdeb Oranjemund offices as well as Joyce at Daberas are thanked for their assistance in acquiring permits and access to the study area as well as unnamed Namdeb security personnel.

EduVentures and the National Museum of Namibia are thanked for the loan of equipment and facilities, and future curation of the collection. Tharina Bird is thanked for identification of some of the arachnids.

area, but at the absolute eastern margin of its distribution range and therefore expected to be highly sensitive to environmental change. Pitfall trap surveys will be quantifiably representative

windblown sand patches at Sendelingsdrif in 2002, which were not sampled in 2010. Since its presence is dependent upon sand streams staying intact and delivering substrate and detritus, eradicated from the mining area during operation and its reappearance after rehabilitation could indicate a significant success of the rehabilitation process. It may take some time though since

diversity and health. Unfortunately Pompilidae are less well studied in Namibia and their use as

13.REFERENCES

Anderson, A.N. 1990. The use of ant communities to evaluate change in Australian terrestrial ecosystems: a review and a recipe. Proceedings of the Ecological Society of Australia, 16:347-357. Bologna, M., Di Guilio, A. & Pitzalis, M. 2008. Systematics and biogeography of the genus Actenodia (Coleoptera: Meloidae: Mylabrini). Systematic Entomology, 33: 319-360. Burke, A. 1998. Open cast diamond mining of Proto Orange River deposits at Sendelingsdrift, Namibia. EIA for sampling. Report to Namdeb, Oranjemund. Dombrow, H. 1997. Revision of the genera Chasme Serville 1825, Khoina Périnquey 1902 and Lepitrichula Schein 1959 (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Melolonthinae: Hopliini). Coleoptera, Schwanfelder Coleopterologische Mitteilungen, 1: 161-201. Endrödi, S. 1991. New species of Aphodiinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) from southern Africa. Annals of the Transvaal Museum, 35(15): 217-222. Endrödy-Younga, S. 2000. Revision of the subtribe Gonopina (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae, Opatrinae, Platynotini). Annals of the Transvaal Museum, 37: 1-54. Evans, A. 1989. Revision of the genus Sparrmannia Laporte (Coleoptera: Melolonthidae: Melolonthinae). Journal of the Entomological Society of Southern Africa, 52: 11-44. Evenhuis, N. 2000. A revision of the 'microbombyliid' genus *Doliopteryx* Hesse (Diptera: Mythicomyiidae). Cimbebasia, 16: 117-135. GBIF 2010. Global Biodiversity Information Facility: Home Page. Available at: http://www.gbif.org/ [Accessed August 7, 2010]. Gussmann, S. & Scholtz, C. 2000. Systematic revision of endemic southern African genera of Bolboceratinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeoidae: Bolboceratidae). Journal of Natural History, 34: 1045-1123. Hancock, D., Kirk-Spriggs, A. & Marais, E. 2001. An annotated checklist and provisional atlas of Namibian Tephritidae (Diptera: Schizophora). Cimbebasia, 17: 41-72. Irish, J. 2002. Insect specialist study for proposed diamond mining at Sendelingsdrif, Namibia. Unpublished report for Namdeb, via Enviroscience. Irish, J. 1994. The biomes of Namibia, as determined by objective categorization. Navorsinge van die Nasionale Museum 10(13): 549-592 Irish, J. 1992. The Hetrodinae (Orthoptera: Ensifera: Bradyporidae) of southern Africa: systematics and phylogeny. Navorsinge van die Nasionale Museum, 8: 393-434. Lomholdt, O. 1985. A reclassification of the larrine tribes with a revision of the Miscophini of southern Africa and Madagascar (Hymenoptera: Sphecidae). Entomologica scandinavica, Supplement 24: 1-183. Louw, S. 1981. Revision of the genus Hyomora Pascoe, 1865 (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Rhytirrhininae). Cimbebasia, (A) 5: 229-250. Louw, S. 1986. Revision of the Microcerinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) with an analysis of their phylogeny and zoogeography. Memoirs of the National Museum, Bloemfontein, 21: 1-331. Mannheimer, C. 2010. Vegetation studies for proposed Sendelingsdrif mine and associated infrastructure. Unpublished report for Namdeb, via CSIR Michaelsen, W. 1914. Oligochaeta. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Land- und Susswasserfauna Deutsch-

Südwestafrikas, 1: 138-182. NaBiD 2010. Namibian Biodiversity Database Web Site. Available at: http://www.biodiversity.org.na/index.php [Accessed May 26, 2010].

- Oosthuizen, J. & Curtis, B. 1990. An annotated checklist of the freshwater leeches (Annelida: Hirudinea) of Namibia. *Cimbebasia*, 12: 99-109.
- Penrith, M. 1979. Revision of the western Southern African Adesmiini (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). *Cimbebasia*, (A)5(1): 1-94.
- Penrith, M. 1975. The species of Onymacris Allard (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). Cimbebasia, (A) 4: 47-97.
- Penrith, M. 1977. The Zophosini (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) of western southern Africa. Cimbebasia *Memoir*, 3: 1-291.
- Penrith, M. & Endrödy-Younga, S. 1994. Revision of the subtribe Cryptochilina (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae: Cryptochilini). Transvaal Museum Monographs, 9: 1-144. Robertson, H. & Zachariades, C. 1997. Revision of the Camponotus fulvopilosus (De Geer) speciesgroup (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). African Entomology, 5(1): 1-18. SABIF 2010. South African Biodiversity Information Facility Portal. Available at:
- http://www.sabif.ac.za/ [Accessed August 7, 2010].
- Sole, C., Bastos, A. & Scholtz, C. 2008. Intraspecific Patterns of Mitochondrial Variation in Natural Population Fragments of a Localized Desert Dung Beetle Species, Pachysoma gariepinum (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Journal of Heredity, 99(5): 464-4.